DOCKETED	
Docket Number:	18-AAER-06
Project Title:	Hearth Products
TN #:	229114
Document Title:	California Investor Owned Utilities Comments Response to the California Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report for Hearth Products
Description:	N/A
Filer:	System
Organization:	California Investor Owned Utilities
Submitter Role:	Public
Submission Date:	7/29/2019 10:17:46 AM
Docketed Date:	7/29/2019

Comment Received From: California Investor Owned Utilities

Submitted On: 7/29/2019 Docket Number: 18-AAER-06

Response to the California Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report for Hearth Products

Additional submitted attachment is included below.

Hearth Products

Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative For PY 2019: Title 20 Standards Development

> Response to the California Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report for **Hearth Products** 18-AAER-06

> > July 29, 2019

Prepared for:









SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC

Prepared by: Cassidee Kido, ENERGY SOLUTIONS

This report was prepared by the California Statewide Investor-Owned Utilities Codes and Standards Program and funded by the California utility customers under the auspices of the California Public Utilities Commission.

Copyright 2019 Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Southern California Edison, and San Diego Gas & Electric.

All rights reserved, except that this document may be used, copied, and distributed without modification.

Neither PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E nor any of its employees makes any warranty, express or implied; or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any data, information, method, product, policy or process disclosed in this document; or represents that its use will not infringe any privately-owned rights including, but not limited to, patents, trademarks or copyrights.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	. PURPOSE		
2.	C	COMMENTS ON THE ENERGY COMMISSION'S DRAFT STAFF REPORT	2
	2.1	PILOT LIGHTS	2
	2.2	REQUIREMENTS FOR DECORATIVE FIREPLACES	
	2.3	COST EFFECTIVENESS	3
	2.4	FE Level.	3
	2.5	GAS LOGS AND OUTDOOR GAS HEARTH PRODUCTS	
	2.6	REPORTING REQUIREMENTS	4
	2.7	TEST PROCEDURE MODIFICATIONS	4
3.	C	COMMENTS ON THE JUNE 6, 2019 PUBLIC MEETING	4
	3.1	DECORATIVE PRODUCT DESIGNATION	4
	3.2	WOOD BURNING FIREPLACES	5
	3.3	CAN/CSA P.4.1	5
	3.4	AUTOMATIC SHUT-OFF DEVICES	6
	3.5	PILOT LIGHT RELIGHTING SERVICES	6
	3.6	HEARTH PRODUCT MEDIA	6
4.	C	CONCLUSION	
5.	R	REFERENCES	8

1. Purpose

The Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) initiative presents recommendations to support the California Energy Commission's (Energy Commission) efforts to update California's Appliance Efficiency Regulations (Title 20) to include new requirements or to upgrade existing requirements for various technologies. The three California Investor Owned Utilities (IOUs) – Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E), and Southern California Edison (SCE) – sponsored this effort (herein referred to as the Statewide CASE Team). The program goal is to prepare and submit proposals that will result in cost-effective enhancements to improve the energy and water efficiency of various products sold in California. The content presented herein reflects the Statewide CASE Team's comments on the Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report for gas-fired hearth products released on May 13, 2019.

2. Comments on the Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report

The Statewide CASE Team is supportive of the Energy Commission's efforts to set hearth product standards and believes that California is showing leadership by setting energy conservation standards for gas-fired hearth products. The following sections outline specific comments on information included in the Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report.

2.1 Pilot Lights

Standing pilot lights waste unneeded energy in their standby mode and have already been banned from numerous other appliances in California including: fan-type central furnaces, household cooking appliances, ¹ pool heaters, and spa heaters (CEC 2015). At the time of the original CASE Report publication, standing pilot lights were banned in fireplaces, decorative gas appliances, and gas logs that are included in new construction, additions, and alterations of low-rise residential buildings under the California Building Energy Efficiency Standards (Title 24, Part 6) (CEC 2015). The 2019 Title 24, Part 6 Standards further updated the requirements to ban standing pilot lights in both indoor and outdoor fireplaces² (CEC 2018). Thus, it makes sense for a Title 20 standard to follow suit and ensure standing pilot lights are banned in all gas-fired hearth products.

Although the Energy Commission's hearth product prescriptive standard proposal differs slightly from the Statewide CASE Team's original proposal, the Statewide CASE Team is supportive of the changes. This includes requiring all products with an on-demand pilot light to include a maximum time limit of seven days for those on-demand pilots³ (Lopez 2019).

2.2 Requirements for Decorative Fireplaces

The Energy Commission included specific proposed requirements for vented decorative gas fireplaces that the Statewide CASE Team did not originally propose. These requirements state that vented decorative gas appliances must have marking that explicitly states the appliance is not a

¹ Excludes appliances without an electrical supply voltage connection and those in which each pilot consumes less than 150 British thermal units (Btu) per hour.

² A fireplace as defined in Title 24, Part 6 is a hearth and fire chamber, or similar prepared place, in which a fire may be made and which is built in conjunction with a flue or chimney, including but not limited to factory-built fireplaces, masonry fireplaces, and masonry heaters as further clarified in the 2016 California Building Code.

³ The Statewide CASE Team comments at the Public Meeting incorrectly stated that the prescriptive standard required all products to have an on-demand pilot. This statement has been corrected here to note that the seven-day maximum time limit only applies to those products equipped with an on-demand pilot.

source of heat and must not include a thermostat. The Statewide CASE Team is supportive of these additional requirements. Statewide CASE Team research has found that the most definitive way to differentiate heating versus decorative gas fireplaces is the presence or absence of a thermostat.

2.3 Cost Effectiveness

The Statewide CASE Team reiterates that the Energy Commission's proposal is cost-effective for both the proposed design standard and the proposed efficiency standard. For different design standard compliance methods⁴ among the different product categories, the cost effectiveness ranges between 1.1 and 19.8. For the proposed efficiency standard, the Energy Commission analyzed two different scenarios: one where the heating fireplace has both a noncompliant pilot type and fireplace efficiency (FE), and one where the heating fireplace has a compliant pilot type and noncompliant FE. Here, the cost effectiveness ranged from 1.2 to 6.1. Additionally, the Energy Commission's proposal saves over 150,000 million (MM) Btu in the first year alone. After stock turnover, the savings increase to over 2,200,000 MMBtu.

2.4 FE Level

The Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report proposed a 70 percent FE level for vented heating gas fireplaces as tested using the CAN/Canadian Standards Association (CSA) P.4.1-15 test procedure with modifications (see Section 2.7 for more information on these test procedure modifications). The Statewide CASE Team is supportive of an FE requirement for vented heating gas fireplaces and notes that the slightly higher 75 percent FE level set forth in the CASE Report is also cost-effective. Combined with the Statewide CASE Team's proposed prescriptive standard, it has a benefit-cost ratio of 4.35 (Statewide CASE Team 2019). Additionally, the Energy Commission's analysis showed that there are at least 59 unique, natural gas-fired hearth product models with an FE of 75 percent or greater (Lopez 2019).

2.5 Gas Logs and Outdoor Gas Hearth Products

The Statewide CASE Team is supportive of the Energy Commission's decision to include gas logs and outdoor gas hearth products within their scope. Banning standing pilot lights in these products helps realize additional savings that will help California achieve their statewide energy efficiency and climate goals. The Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report showed that a total of 52 percent of gas logs and 72 percent of outdoor gas fireplaces either had a compliant pilot light type or had a direct ignition⁵ (Lopez 2019). This demonstrates that there are already various gas log and outdoor gas fireplace options in the market that meet the proposed standard.

During the public meeting on June 6, 2019 (Public Meeting), Barton Day from the Hearth, Patio, & Barbecue Association (HPBA) noted that the installation of continuous pilots in outdoor gas logs and fireplaces is near zero because often times, the open air would blow out the pilot light (CEC 2019). This supports the Statewide CASE Team's position in that it means it should not be difficult for the small segment of the market that currently has continuous pilots to meet the proposed prescriptive requirements.

The Statewide CASE Team would like to clarify a statement made during the Public Meeting about gas logs and outdoor gas hearth products. While the Statewide CASE Team supports inclusion of

⁴ Compliance methods depend on the type of pilot light used to comply. The options analyzed include intermittent pilot, on-demand pilot, and a pilot with dual intermittent and on-demand capabilities.

⁵ Direct ignition pilots are not covered by this proposed standard, which means that they are technically compliant.

gas logs and outdoor gas hearth products into the Modernized Appliance Efficiency Database System (MAEDbS), the Statewide CASE Team did not intend to imply that manufacturers be required to report the FE level of these products. The Statewide CASE Team did not include this recommendation in either the CASE Report or the slides presented during the Public Meeting and leaves the decision of reporting FE for these products at the discretion of the Energy Commission.

2.6 Reporting Requirements

The Statewide CASE Team supports the Energy Commission's proposed reporting requirements for hearth product certification to the MAEDbS but suggests one modification. In the list of options for "vented gas hearth product type," the Statewide CASE Team recommends including an option for vented gas logs. This will ensure that vented gas log products will also be properly reflected in the MAEDbS.

2.7 Test Procedure Modifications

The Statewide CASE Team supports the Energy Commission's proposed CAN/CSA P.4.1-15 test procedure modifications to provide clarification and ensure consistency when testing. These modifications include defining additional multiplication factors to calculate pilot energy input rate (Q_p) and correcting a discrepancy in the nomenclature of Section 6.14.2 of the test procedure. Ensuring that multiplication factors are defined for interrupted pilots and intermittent pilots with on-demand capability will ensure that products with these pilot light types are properly covered by this rulemaking and will ensure consistency across all products tested with CAN/CSA P.4.1-15. Correcting the nomenclature in Section 6.14.2 will ensure that the subscripts are correctly assigned to reduce confusion when referencing CAN/CSA P.4.1-15. The Statewide CASE Team supports all these modifications.

3. Comments on the June 6, 2019 Public Meeting

The following comments are in response to issues raised at the June 6, 2019 Public Meeting ("Public Meeting").

3.1 Decorative Product Designation

The Energy Commission asked for more information on how decorative products are distinguished from heating products (CEC 2019).

In response, the Statewide CASE Team conducted internet research and interviewed a hearth product distributor. The Statewide CASE Team found that generally, products that are meant for heating are more efficient, are sold with a direct vent, and have an optional thermostat. Usually, products that have a B-vent and do not have thermostat capabilities are meant for decorative purposes. The Statewide CASE Team did not find literature that explicitly stated this distinction—it seems to be common knowledge among fireplace manufacturers and distributors.

Additionally, the Statewide CASE Team found that even if a product is designed for heating, it can easily be converted to serve a decorative purpose. Many manufacturers and distributors sell heat

⁶ Direct vents include two parts, one for exhaust air and one for combustion air intake. The intake air is taken from the outside and the exhaust air is expelled back to the outside (Northline Express 2019).

⁷ B-vents are also known as natural vents. They use room air for combustion air intake and exhaust the air to the outside (Northline Express 2019).

distribution kits,⁸ which are optional accessories that can pipe the hot air outside rather than into the house to make the fireplace behave more like a decorative product. There is not currently an option that makes decorative products behave like heating products.

Based on discussions the Statewide CASE Team had with the distributor mentioned above and comments made by industry during the Public Meeting, there is clearly a grey area between decorative and heating hearth products. Factors such as unit capacity, control method, vent type, and desired FE all interact with one another in nuanced ways, and the impacts of the proposed regulations on decorative and heating hearth products are unclear to fully predict at this time. Because there is not publicly available data that distinguishes decorative and heating product shipments, the Statewide CASE Team reiterates the importance of the Energy Commission's requirement for manufacturers to report the FE of decorative products. This data will help inform the impacts of this proposed standard on the hearth product market.

3.2 Wood Burning Fireplaces

Jerry Scott from Robert H. Peterson Company noted that gas logs can replace wood burning fireplaces which benefits air quality at both an individual and regional level (CEC 2019). The Statewide CASE Team agrees that gas logs can help reduce particulate matter (PM) levels relative to wood burning fireplaces. This transition should not be interfered with as it provides benefits throughout the Air Quality Management Districts (AQMDs) and Air Pollution Control Districts (APCDs) in California.

The Statewide CASE Team would like to emphasize that any standard that may be eventually adopted by the Energy Commission must be cost-effective. This means that on a lifecycle basis, the benefits will outweigh the costs. Therefore, due to the additional lifecycle benefits, gas logs will become more financially attractive to consumers on a lifecycle basis than they are currently. Furthermore, energy conservation standards for hearth products will reduce unnecessary combustion of natural gas, which will reduce the PM emissions from hearth products relative to emissions levels of current equipment.

The Statewide CASE Team understands that though lifecycle benefits will improve for gas logs, upfront costs may increase because of a standard. Since wood is not regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission, the IOUs are unable to offer incentives to "fuel-switch" from wood to natural gas. However, throughout the state, local AQMDs and APCDs offer incentives for customers to switch from wood to cleaner alternatives. The incentives reduce up-front costs and enable fuel switching from wood fireplaces to gas logs. When combined with the reduced lifecycle costs that will result from this proposed standard, gas logs will be well positioned to continue to replace wood fireplaces and improve air quality in California.

3.3 CAN/CSA P.4.1

Ryan Carroll from HPBA commented that as recently as June 4, 2019, a working group had convened to discuss addressing some permissible or necessary revisions to the CAN/CSA P.4.1-15

⁸ One example of a heat distribution kit is the Napoleon GA-566: https://www.spotix.com/napoleon-ga-566-fireplace-hot-air-distribution-kit.html.

⁹ Bay Area AQMD: http://www.baaqmd.gov/funding-and-incentives/residents/wood-smoke-rebate; San Joaquin Valley APQD: http://www.apmd.gov/bome/programs/community/community-detail?title=wood-device-incentive-program

test method. He noted that over the course of six to 12 months, the CSA had engaged a technical steering committee to revise the test method and that any updates to the test method could be problematic if the Energy Commission adhered to the current version for testing because of harmonization issues with a new Canadian standard (CEC 2019).

The Statewide CASE Team is not aware of steering committee activities meant to revise CAN/CSA P.4.1-15 but notes that Natural Resources Canada (NRCan) published an amendment to revise gas fireplace standards on June 12, 2019, which referenced the CAN/CSA P.4.1-15 test method. Additionally, in an October 20, 2018 regulatory impact analysis statement discussing issues brought up around gas fireplaces, NRCan noted that "one manufacturer and one association requested that the fireplace efficiency testing method CSA P.4.1-15 be fundamentally revised to better reflect real-life usage patterns." However, NRCan also noted that while in the last two revisions of this test procedure, they supported revisions to better reflect usage, they did not support updating the test method again until more data related to gas fireplace usage in Canada was available (Government of Canada 2018). The Statewide CASE Team encourages the Energy Commission to work with CSA's committee to ensure any changes are accurately reflected in both the Canadian standards and the Title 20 Standards. The Statewide CASE Team is supportive of ensuring harmonization with the Canadian standards to avoid any unnecessary testing burden on manufacturers, as long as it does not delay the California standard.

3.4 Automatic Shut-Off Devices

The Energy Commission noted that they were including a requirement for decorative gas fireplaces to be equipped with an automatic shutoff device with a time limit no greater than 24 hours. This requirement was included to align with NRCan's standards (CEC 2019). The Statewide CASE Team is aware that the Energy Commission is planning to remove this requirement because the NRCan regulations updated on June 12, 2019, removed the automatic shutoff device requirement (Government of Canada 2019). In a confidential report published by NRCan, the consultant hired for the study was unable to conclusively determine which models had an automatic shut-off device as it was not easily ascertained from product literature (NRCan 2018). The Statewide CASE Team faced this documentation issue when researching the availability of automatic shut-off devices in hearth products. Manufacturers interviewed in the NRCan study indicated that incorporating this feature would be relatively straightforward for models with intermittent pilots and that products with intermittent or on-demand ignitions would need a simple firmware update that would add little to the cost of the gas valve (NRCan 2018). The Statewide CASE Team notes that because there is a proposed design standard requiring intermittent pilots, this change would not likely be a large burden to manufacturers and may still bring additional gas savings. Thus, the Statewide CASE Team encourages the Energy Commission to reconsider the inclusion of this requirement.

3.5 Pilot Light Relighting Services

Concerns were raised about the cost and burden of relighting pilot lights. PG&E offers free appointments to its customers for gas service technicians to safely relight appliance pilot lights (PG&E 2019). SDG&E also offers no-cost appointments to inspect natural gas appliances, which includes pilot light relighting (SDG&E 2019).

3.6 Hearth Product Media

The Energy Commission requested any information about whether the type of media selected impacts the test procedure results. "Media" are the non-combustible elements (e.g., log sets,

decorative stones, glass beads) included in the hearth product near the flame to enhance the aesthetics of the fireplace. The Statewide CASE Team discussed this question with a test lab; the test lab said they did not expect the media to have any meaningful impact on the test procedure results. They noted that, depending how the media is arranged, there is potential for plane impingement on the natural gas outlets which could affect the amount of carbon monoxide produced. However, the lab did not expect this to meaningfully impact FE results.

4. Conclusion

The Statewide CASE Team is supportive of the proposed requirements laid out in the Energy Commission's Draft Staff Report. Specifically, the Statewide CASE Team would like to express explicit support of the inclusion of the gas logs and outdoor gas hearth products, and of modifications to the test procedure. The Statewide CASE Team does note that a 75 percent FE level for heating gas fireplace is still cost-effective and recommends one slight modification to the reporting requirements to include "vented gas hearth product type" as an option in MAEDbS.

After further research, the Statewide CASE Team notes that the key distinction between heating and decorative products seems to be efficiency, venting, and the option for a thermostat. Along with the proposed gas-fired hearth product standards, the Statewide CASE Team also supports the emissions benefits of a reduction in wood burning fireplaces. The Statewide CASE Team is not aware of any revisions to CAN/CSA P.4.1-15 and based on the amendments published June 12, 2019, it does not seem as though NRCan has plans to update the test procedure in the near future. The Statewide CASE Team supports harmonization between California and Canadian standards as long as California standards are not delayed. The Statewide CASE Team notes that PG&E and SDG&E offer no-cost pilot light relighting services.

The Statewide CASE Team urges the Energy Commission to advance to a rulemaking for hearth products with a standard that is largely similar to that contained in the Draft Staff Report along with the minor adjustments noted above. Overall, a hearth products standard, as analyzed by the Energy Commission, would save over 1,200,000 MMBtu per year after stock turnover and would be cost-effective for consumers in California.

5. References

- CEC (California Energy Commission). 2015. 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings. http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-037-CMF.pdf.
- 2018. 2019 Building Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings. https://www.energy.ca.gov/2018publications/CEC-400-2018-020/CEC-400-2018-020-CMF.pdf.
- 2019. "Transcript of 06-06-2019 Staff Workshop Re Appliance Efficiency Requirements for Gas Hearth Products."
 https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/GetDocument.aspx?tn=228774&DocumentContentId=60045.
- 4. Government of Canada. 2018. "Canada Gazette, Part I, Volume 152, Number 42: Regulations Amending the Energy Efficiency Regulations, 2016 (Amendment 15)." http://www.gazette.gc.ca/rp-pr/p1/2018/2018-10-20/html/reg3-eng.html.
- 5. _____. 2019. "Regulations Amending the Energy Efficiency Regulations, 2016 (Amendment 15): SOR/2019-164." http://www.gazette.gc.ca/rp-pr/p2/2019/2019-06-12/html/sor-dors164-eng.html.
- Lopez, Jessica. 2019. Analysis of Proposed Efficiency Standards and Marking for Gas Hearth Products.
 California Energy Commission. Publication Number: CEC-400-2019-007-SD.

 https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/GetDocument.aspx?tn=228253&DocumentContentId=59439.
- NRCan (Natural Resources Canada). 2018. "Market Analysis for Gas Fireplaces." Confidential Study.
- 8. Northline Express. 2019. "Differences Between B-Vent, Direct Vent, and Vent-Free Gas Heating Appliances? https://www.northlineexpress.com/b-vent-versus-direct-vent.html.
- PG&E (Pacific Gas and Electric Company). 2019. "Gas pilot light service appointments." https://www.pge.com/en_US/residential/customer-service/home-services/pilot-light/pilot-light-service-appointments.page.
- 10. SDG&E (San Diego Gas and Electric Company). 2019. "Keep your gas appliances in top working order." https://www.sdge.com/businesses/customer-service/service-requests/gas-appliance-check.
- 11. Statewide CASE Team. 2019. Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative: Analysis of Standards Proposal for Hearth Products 18-AAER-06. https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/GetDocument.aspx?tn=227185&DocumentContentId=58024.